FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/23/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/22/2025 4:03 PM

No. 85844-1-1

Case #: 1038160

# THE COURT OF APPEALS DIV. I WASHINGTON STATE

STEPHENIE LOCK,

Appellant,

V.

AMERICAN FAMILY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dated: 1/22/2025
Vonda M. Sargent #24452
Carol Farr #27470
Attorneys for Appellant
The Law Offices of Vonda Sargent
119 First Ave. S. Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98104
206.838.4970
vonda@vsargentlaw.com
carolfarr@gmail.com

# "ABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1	. OVERVIEW5
2	BACKGROUND5
3	. DECISIONS FORMING THE BASIS FOR REVIEW10
Ε.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED13
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Не	nderson v Thompson, 515 P.3d 1011 (2022)12, 13, 14,
Loc	ck v. American Family Ins. Co., 460 3 P.3d 683 (2020)5, 6, 9, 12, 15
	ck v. American Family Ins. slip opinion #85844.1-1, 12/23/20244, 6, 0, 11, 12, 13, 14,
Va	n Noy v. State Farm, 142 Wn.2d 784, 791 (2001)6

**IDENTITY OF PETITIONER** A.

Stephenie Lock asks this Court to accept review of the

Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in

part B of this petition.

B. **COURT OF APPEALS DECISION** 

Appellant Lock asks this Court to review the decisions of

the Court of Appeals Opinion in this matter ("LOCK II") dated

12/23/2024. Stephenie Y. Lock v. American Family

*Insurance Company*, slip opinion #85844.1-I, 12/23/2024. A

copy of the LOCK II decision is in the appendix Apages A-1

through A-24.

C. **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW** 

> Did the Court of Appeals err and deny Lock due 1.

process in affirming the second trial court's ruling limiting

Lock's new trial to the sole evidence of the one instance of

American Family's bad faith insurance conduct that was

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104

excluded from the first trial despite that the Court of

Appeals in LOCK I reversed the first trial court's JNOV on her

\$415,375 insurance bad faith verdict without limitation?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err and deny Lock due

process in affirming the trial court's denial of an evidentiary

hearing when the trial judge explicitly found that Lock had

raised "an extremely valid issue of racial bias"? APP. B

3. Did the Court of Appeals err and deny Lock due

process in affirming the second trial court's unexplained

denial of the attorney fees awarded American Family's

pervasive bad faith litigation from 2017-2019 after the first

trial court made multiple findings of facts of American

Family's pervasive bad faith insurance conduct?

4. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to

address an insurer's fiduciary duty to treat its insureds

honestly, fairly and to not place its own interest ahead of its

insureds', where now two juries have found that American

Family acted in bad faith towards Lock on her insurance

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104

206-838-4970

claim, and five judges have found American Family litigated

in bad faith, all of which is forbidden under the Insurance

Code and the civil rules and the RPC's. Van Nov v. State

Farm, 142 Wn.2d 784, 791 (2001).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. OVERVIEW

Appellant Stephenie Lock seeks review by the

Washington Supreme Court of the Court of Appeals

12/23/2024 Opinion in this matter ("LOCK II"), as it contains

errors of law that denied Stephenie Lock a new trial on her

insurance bad faith claim and where rulings against Lock

were recognized by the trial court as showing an "extremely

valid issue of racial bias." The first appellate opinion,

decided in 2020 after the first trial, is called "LOCK I"

throughout this document. Lock v. American Family Ins. Co.,

460 3 P.3d 683 (2020).

2. BACKGROUND

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104

206-838-4970

This case has been in litigation for 12 years, so

some background is necessary. Lock was injured in 2013

and sought to access her insurance, which led to litigation

in 2017. During the entire process American Family has

litigated so aggressively, dishonestly and in bad faith that it

was recognized by five separate judges. The rulings against

Lock were so unreasonable that a reasonable person aware

of implicit bias could find that they reflect systemic racial

bias --- triggered by American Family's bad faith and

dishonest tactics. The delay tactics of American Family have

resulted in over 1000 pleadings in superior court, dozens of

pleadings in federal court, and dozens more in the court of

appeals and in this Court. Five judges have found American

Family litigated in bad faith, lied to the court, violated the

civil rules, manipulated the court for the express purpose of

delay. Yet, American Family has faced no consequences,

instead it is Lock who has been sanctioned at every turn. To

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104 clarify the decisions for which review is required, a brief background follows.

- The first trial (2019) led to the jury finding American Family acted in bad faith and a verdict of \$413,575 on her bad faith insurance claim, which is a tort claim. LOCK II, p 1.
- The 2019 trial judge granted a JNOV on Lock's CPA and bad faith insurance claims, finding there was "no evidence" to support the verdicts, and itemizing the rejected damages (economic damages in support of Lock's CPA claim.) The trial judge also entered an award of Lock's attorney fees and costs, concluding that equity fees to Lock due to multiple findings of American Family's bad faith litigation tactics in 2017-2019. While the trial court subsequently vacated the fee award, the order on

206-838-4970

reconsideration confirms American Family's bad faith litigation tactics. <sup>1</sup>

- The first Court of Appeals (2020) reversed the JNOV on Lock's bad faith insurance claim and also reversed the trial court's exclusion of evidence of American Family's "direct contact" with Lock on the eve of trial <sup>2</sup> finding it "should have been admissible to support her bad faith insurance claim." *LOCK I*, 693, 696. After Lock's request for a new trial in oral argument, the Court remanded Lock's bad faith claim for a new trial to include the excluded evidence of the direct contact. *LOCK I*, 693, 696.
- The second trial (2023) was conducted by a series of
   Superior Court judges who erroneously ruled that Lock's
   new trial was limited exclusively to the sole instance of

<sup>1</sup> In its motion to reconsider fees, American Family did not dispute the bad faith litigation tactics, and the order vacated just the fee award, explicitly confirming American Family litigated in bad faith.

On the eve of the first trial, American Family contacted Lock directly with a check and a letter reflecting total compensation for her claim.

American Family's direct contact with Lock in 2019.3 LOCK II, p II-13. Because this decision would exclude all of the evidence of American Family's bad faith insurance conduct presented at the first trial,4 Lock moved for discretionary review (exactly to prevent what is now happening) but was denied review. Ruling Denying Direct Discretionary Review, Lock. v. American Family, 100476-1, Washington Supreme Court, 4/20/22. The trial court denied Lock's request for the 2017-2019 bad faith attorney fees remanded by the Court of Appeals without consideration or explanation. The trial court denied Lock's requests for an evidentiary hearing on racial bias which Lock asserted was triggered by American Family's aggressive dishonesty and which could only be the basis for the plentitude of

<sup>3</sup> This decision thus denied Lock from presenting the abundant evidence of American Family's bad faith conduct towards her from 2017-2019 which garnered the first verdict. Lock tried for discretionary review, which was denied.

Some of the evidence Lock presented was American Family's failure to investigate, failure to communicate, failure to give its IME doctor Lock's actual record, etc.

unreasonable and unexplained rulings against her. This despite the trial judge finding that Lock had raised an "extremely valid issue of racial bias." (See APP. B)

• The second Court of Appeals affirmed the trial courts' rulings. It affirmed the 2023 trial court's decision to limit Lock's new trial to one instance of bad faith conduct - Family's 2019 direct contact with Lock; affirmed the trial court's decision to deny Lock any attorney fees for American Family's bad faith litigation from 2017-2019; and affirmed that the trial court's denials for an evidentiary hearing were appropriate. LOCK II. Lock requests review of these decisions because a reasonable person aware of implicit bias could find that they were the result of systemic

3. DECISIONS FORMING THE BASIS FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling limiting Lock's new trial to the one instance of bad

bias.

faith conduct. LOCK II, p 11-12. The court erred in relying on

findings in the Commissioner's Ruling Denying Discretionary

Review which held that the LOCK I Court of Appeals had

"affirmed" the JNOV on Lock's bad faith insurance. LOCK II,

p 8. The court erred in finding that LOCK I "held that the trial

court abused its discretion only by excluding evidence of

damages resulting from American Family's direct contact."

LOCK II, p 12. The court erred in relying on LOCK I as

excluding all evidence of American Family's bad faith

insurance conduct except for its direct contact which

occurred just days before the start of trial and was never

litigated by Lock.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial courts'

denial of any evidentiary hearing. It erred in ruling that Lock

failed to establish a prima facie case of racial bias. LOCK II, p

14, p 17. It erred in ruling that Lock could not establish a

prima facie case of bias without a verdict to challenge under

Henderson. LOCK II, p 16, and see Henderson v Thompson,

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500

PETITION FOR REVIEW PAGE 11 OF 17

515 P.3d 1011 (2022). The court erred in finding that Lock

failed to explain how such conduct was racially framed. 5

LOCK II, p 17. It erred in finding that Lock failed to make a

prima facie showing under the *Henderson* standard because

she failed to show how bias had been activated to impact any

specific ruling.<sup>6</sup> LOCK II p 16. It erred in finding that Lock

failed to show "how institutional bias impacted the jury's

verdict in her favor." TOCK II, p 17.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's

denial of Lock's 2017-2019 bad faith litigation attorney fees.

It erred in finding that "Lock does not identify specific

conduct with cites to the record" despite that Lock's brief

5 The court did not provide an example or definition of what constitutes "racial framing."

This in light of the trial judge acknowledging an "extremely valid issue of

racial bias."

7 This ruling is particularly off base when the trial court decisions left Lock unable to present any of American Family's bad faith conduct from 2017-2019 which formed the basis for the large 2019 verdict and left Lock trying a case on one

incident of bad faith conduct. This decision removed \$413,575 worth of evidence

from her case, certainly reducing her verdict.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

cited scored of conduct. LOCK II, p 21. It erred in finding the

first trial court's factual findings were not a basis to support

the bad faith attorney fees. LOCK II, p 22. It erred in finding

that the order reconsidering Lock's 2019 bad faith attorney

fee award vacated the extensive findings of American

Family's bad faith litigation tactics.

The Court of Appeals erred in failing to address an

insurer's fiduciary duty to treat its insureds honestly, fairly

and to not place its own interest ahead of its insureds',

where now two juries have found that AmFam acted in bad

faith towards Lock and four judges have found that American

Family litigated in bad faith. LOCK II, p 22-23.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) Review should be accepted because the decision

of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's denial of an

evidentiary hearing on racial bias is in conflict with the

Supreme Court decision in Henderson v Thompson, 515 P.3d

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500

1011 (2022), where the trial judge explicitly found that Lock

raised "an extremely valid issue of racial bias." R.A.P.

13.4(b)(1).

(2) Review should be accepted because the decision of

the Court of Appeals limiting her trial to the one instance of

evidence excluded from the first trial (denying Lock a trial on

the evidence of bad faith insurance conduct presented at the

first trial) is in direct conflict with the first Court of Appeals

opinion granting Lock a new trial (LOCK I). Lock v. American

Family Ins. Co., 460 3 P.3d 683, 696 (2020) ("We also reverse

trial court's JNOV dismissing Lock's insurance bad faith

claim.") R.A.P. 13.4(b)(2).

(3) Review should be accepted because the decisions

of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's limitation

of Lock's new trial to evidence not presented at the first trial;

affirming the trial court's denial of an evidentiary hearing on

the claim of racial bias; and affirming the trial court's refusal

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500

to address Lock's motion for the fees deny Lock her

fundamental right to due process under the Washington

Constitution. Wash. Const. art. I §. 3. R.A.P. 13.4(b)(3).

§

(4) This case should be reviewed as it presents a matter of

grave public import because it addresses the systemic racial

injustices bias recognized by this Court. This Court stated in

its June 4, 2020, letter the members of the Judiciary and

Legal Community: "that we are capable of taking steps

to address it, if only we have the courage and the will". This

case presents the opportunity for this Court to reaffirm its

commitment to this laudable principle and "do the hard and

necessary work", to dismantle and eradicate racism in our

system of justice. In bringing a case against her own

insurance company Ms. Lock has faced monetary sanctions

in an amount that has resulted in her having paid her

insurance company for having brought a valid and

meritorious claim against it. If the actions of American

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT 119 First Ave. S., Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104

206-838-4970

Family are allowed to remain unchallenged the clear

message sent to the citizens of color in Washington is that

they should simply sit down and take whatever is dished out

without complaint. The actions of American Family should

not be sanctioned by a Court who has stated that it has a

moral imperative to address these issues. R.A.P. 13.4(b)(4).

This brief consists of 2172 words in compliance with the R.A.P.

Respectfully submitted,

DATE

THE LAW OFFICES OF VONDA M. SARGENT

Vonda Sargent

WSBA #24552

Attorney for Plaintiff

Carol Farr

WSBA #27470

Attorney for Plaintiff