FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/8/2025 3:35 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1038160

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STEPHENIE Y. LOCK,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent

v.

AMERICAN FAMILY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

AMERICAN FAMILY'S ANSWER AND CONTINGENT CROSS-PETITION

Kimberly Larsen Rider, WSBA #42736 Rory W. Leid, III, WSBA #25075

WATHEN | LEID | HALL | RIDER, P.C. 222 Etruria St. Seattle, WA 98109 206.622.0494

Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant, American Family Mut. Ins. Co., S.I.

## **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Lock's request for discretionary review should be denied because this case does not meet any of the four (4) requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b).<sup>1 2</sup> LOCK II is not in conflict with any prior decision of the Supreme Court or the prior, binding published Court of Appeals ("COA") opinion – *i.e.*, LOCK I.<sup>3</sup> Likewise, this case, which involves the

<sup>2</sup> See generally RAP 13.4(b):

*Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.* A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

<sup>3</sup> Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co., 12 Wn. App. 2d 905, 460 P.3d 683 (2020) (hereafter, "LOCK I").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Ex. 1 (Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co., No. 85844-1-I (WASH. CT. APP., Dec. 23, 2024) (hereafter, "LOCK II").).

application of well-established Washington law, presents no significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution or any issue of substantial public interest requiring determination by the Supreme Court.<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, this Court previously considered substantially these same arguments when it denied Petitioner's 2022 Interlocutory Appeal and Petitioner's subsequent 2023 Request for Direct Review.<sup>5</sup> As such, this Court should deny review.

American Family further respectfully requests that this Court award attorney fees and expenses under RAP 18.1, RAP 18.7, and RAP 18.9 because the pending petition has no legal or factual basis, and Petitioner is well aware that she advances her petition without the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See supra., fn.3; see also RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Ex. 4 (Ruling Denying Direct Discretionary Review, Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co., No. 100476-1 (WASH., April 20, 2022)); Ex. 5 (Certificate of Finality, Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co., No. 100476-1 (WASH., May 23, 2022)), and Ex. 6 (Order Terminating Review/Transferring to Court of Appeals, Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co., No. 101865-7 (WASH., October 3, 2023)).

#### II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER

American Family Insurance Company ("American Family") is the Respondent/Cross-Petitioner in this case. American Family opposes the Petition for Review ("Pet.").

If this Court grants Lock's petition, it should also accept review of the issues alternatively raised by American Family during the underlying appeal which Division I did not consider because it affirmed the 2022 trial on remand.<sup>6</sup>

#### III. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES RAISED BY PETITIONER.

#### A. No Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court did not err in denying Petitioner's request for a *Henderson* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> LOCK II, *slip op.* at n.15. *See also* CP 367- 461 (American Family's Notice of Cross-Appeal), **Ex. 7** (American Family's Answering Brief and Opening Cross-Appeal Brief, *Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co.*, No. 85844-1 (WASH. CT. APP., April 22, 2024) at 48-69; and **Ex. 8** (American Family's Reply Brief, *Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co.*, No. 85844-1 (WASH. CT. APP., June 21, 2024)) at 10-25.

hearing because Petitioner failed to establish the requisite *prima facie case* of implicit bias.<sup>7</sup>

#### **B.** No Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In its affirmation of LOCK I as the operative law of the case, the Court of Appeals in LOCK II noted Petitioner's failure to petition the state Supreme Court for review of LOCK I, thus rendering LOCK I the law of the case.<sup>8, 9</sup> Nevertheless, and

<sup>8</sup> See RAP 12.2 (*Disposition on Review*), RAP 12.5 (*Mandate*) and RAP 12.7 (*Finality of Decision*).

<sup>9</sup> See LOCK II, *slip op.* at 22 (*emphasis added*) (referencing, LOCK I at 919):

[...] We disagree with Lock's assertion and her reliance on the first trial court's findings as a factual basis to support her new attorney fees request. First, after each of Lock's attorney fees requests, which were made before two different judges, the trial court reviewed and considered the motions, as well as American Family's responses and Lock's replies. Second, because the first

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See LOCK II, *slip op.* at 17. See also Henderson v.

*Thompson,* 200 WASH. 2d 417, 439-40, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022) (discussing the burden at a *CR 59* evidentiary hearing upon prima facie showing of racial bias) and *Simbulan v. Nw. Hosp.* & *Med. Ctr.*, 32 WASH. APP. 2d 164, 183-88, 555 P.3d 455 (2024)(contrasting facts to party's flagrant appeals in Henderson and appeals in the criminal context).

despite being previously addressed by all levels of this state's judiciary including by the trial Court on remand, the Supreme Court on interlocutory appeal, and the LOCK II Court of Appeals, Petitioner remains unthwarted and continues her frivolous attempts to appeal what she failed to appeal in 2020.

#### C. No Basis Under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

As noted by the Court of Appeals, Petitioner offered no proof to support her conclusory statements that her fundamental due process rights were violated by American Family, the trial court, or LOCK I.

#### D. No Basis Under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals properly distinguished between American Family's corporate counsel's alleged direct contact conduct from the postlitigation conduct of trial counsel, as

trial court vacated its prior order granting attorney fees based on its further understanding of the procedural record, *such factual findings simply do not exist*.

repeatedly upheld by other prior Washington courts in this matter.<sup>10</sup>

#### IV. RESTATEMENT OF CASE

The facts of this case are accurately set out in Division I's

opinion in LOCK I and LOCK II.<sup>11</sup>

# A. LOCK I sets forth the Undisputed Facts and Operative Law.

This case arises from a minor 2013 motor vehicle accident wherein Petitioner was rearended by an uninsured driver. Petitioner originally filed suit against American Family under an Uninsured Motorist ("UM") claim in March 2015. <sup>12</sup> Petitioner

<sup>12</sup> CP 1-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "Procedural bad faith is unrelated to the merits of the case and refers to 'vexatious conduct during the course of litigation.'" LOCK II, *slip op.* at 20 (referencing, *Hedger v. Groeschell*, 199 Wn. App. 8, 14, 397 P.3d 154 (2017) (quoting, *Rogerson Hiller Corp. v. Port of Port Angeles*, 96 Wn. App. 918, 928, 982 P.2d 131 (1999)). *See also* LOCK II, *slip op.* at n.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See LOCK II, *slip op.* at n.2, "[b]ecause the underlying facts are not at issue in this appeal, we cite to this court's previous opinion in this matter to provide factual context."

subsequently amended her complaint in to add a bad faith claim and extracontractual claims under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act ("IFCA") and the Consumer Protect Act ("CPA") in November 2015.<sup>13</sup> While this case was proceeding to a July 2017 trial (hereafter "First Trial"), American Family inadvertently mailed a check for \$4,153.75, along with a corresponding cover letter, directly to Petitioner rather than to her counsel on 3/30/17.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 8-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The check was for court-ordered sanctions.

Following the conclusion of the first jury trial, the parties filed cross-appeals; Petitioner did <u>not</u> subsequently challenge or seek review of the LOCK I opinion under RAP 13.4(a).<sup>15,16</sup>

In LOCK I, the Court of Appeals upheld the post-verdict JNOV dismissing Petitioner's bad faith and extracontractual claim verdicts on post-verdict motions, finding that Petitioner failed to introduce any evidence of damage proximately caused by the alleged bad-faith actions. This effectively extinguished the bad faith damage award of \$413,575. Thus, leaving only the \$21,000 UM verdict intact.<sup>17, 18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Ex. 4 at 3; see also Ex. 3 (Ruling Denying Emergency Motion for Stay, *Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co.*, No. 100476-1 (WASH., Jan. 13, 2022)) at 3.

Lock also sought direct review when she filed her 2017 appeal, but the Supreme Court transferred her appeal to the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 4.2. *See* **Ex. 9** (Order Terminating Review/Transferring to Court of Appeals, *Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co.*, No. 95508-5 (WASH., Nov. 28, 2018)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See A-14 to A-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> LOCK I at 924-931; *see also*, **Ex. 3** at 7 and **Ex. 4** at 6.

Following the first appeal, Division I, "with one exception, affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the extracontractual claims following trial that included a \$413,575 verdict on Lock's common law insurance bad faith claim. This court [Division I] remanded for trial on a claim for common law insurance bad faith based on American Family's corporate counsel's alleged conduct of directly contacting Lock pretrial." <sup>19</sup> LOCK I also remanded for offset of the UIM award by PIP benefits paid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The first trial court improperly denied American Family's post-verdict motion to reduce the \$21,000 UIM verdict by the PIP offset; a ruling in favor of Petitioner. Thus, on 1/17/18, a \$21,000 UIM judgment in favor of Petitioner was entered. American Family satisfied the UIM Judgment on 1/25/18. Thereafter, the Court of Appeals correctly remanded that issue for application of the available PIP offsets in accordance with Washington authority. *See* LOCK II, *slip op.* at n.1 and LOCK II, *slip op.* at n.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See LOCK II, slip op. at 1-2 (internal citations omitted)

#### In affirming LOCK I, the LOCK II Court of Appeals held

that LOCK I unequivocally vacated the attorney fee award.<sup>20</sup>

The Court of Appeals went on to find:

Lock reads out of context this court's statement that "[w]e ... reverse the trial JNOV dismissing court's Lock's bad faith insurance claim'...Lock...ignores this court's I's] holding Division that postlitigation bad faith conduct is rarely admissible because it lacks probative value and has a high risk of prejudice." In her first appeal to this court, Lock argued that the trial court erred in excluding evidence of American Family's litigation conduct that occurred after she filed her UIM lawsuit. This court explicitly held, "[t]he trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the postlitigation conduct of trial counsel, including evidence of bad faith in the filing of untimely motions for summary judgment and removing the case to federal court." As to any substantive insurance bad faith claim. read in context, this court's reversal of JNOV dismissing Lock's the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See LOCK II, *slip op.* at pg. 6 (referencing, LOCK I at 925, n.4). Therein, Division I expressly noted that, "[n]either party sought review of this court's decision." *Id*.

extracontractual bad faith claims related to remand for a new trial on Lock's common law insurance bad faith claim "<u>based on American</u> <u>Family's direct contact during</u> <u>litigation</u>" and no other insurance bad faith claim."<sup>21</sup>

Petitioner further agreed with the Court of Appeals upon

inquiry:

JUDGE COLBURN: I want to clarify the distinction between a substantive claim for insurance bad faith versus bad faith litigation tactics. Those are two different things.

MS. SARGENT: Absolutely.<sup>22</sup>

## 1. Numerous courts affirmed LOCK I on remand; those rulings were further affirmed by this Court and in LOCK II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> LOCK II, *slip op.* at 12-13 (*emphasis in original*) (internal citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See Ex. 2 (Appeal Hearing Transcript, *Lock v. Am. Family Ins. Co.*, No. 85844-1-I, (WASH. CT. APP., Nov. 5, 2024) at 8:15-19.

It is significant to note that a member of the Division 1 Court of Appeals, Judge Hazelrigg, considered and ruled on both LOCK I and LOCK II. In LOCK II, the Court of Appeals expressly affirmed:

- "We refer to the sending of the check and cover letter as American Family's "direct contact."<sup>23</sup>
- "Lock asserts this court reversed the JNOV on the jury's bad faith verdict of \$413,575 'without limitation' and ordered a new trial on all evidence of American Family's bad faith. Lock argues she should now, out of fairness, recover the original bad faith verdict of \$413,575 in addition to her \$40,000 verdict on remand. <u>Because her interpretation is contrary to a fair and plain reading of Lock, we deny her request</u>."<sup>24</sup>
- "Notably, even if it could be interpreted that this court's vacating the trial court's order of denying attorney fees also vacated the first trial court's ruling vacating its own previous order *awarding* attorney

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See LOCK II, slip op. at 4 (referencing LOCK I at 913, 923-24).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> LOCK II, *slip op.* at 11-12 (*emphasis added*) (referencing, LOCK I, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 926, 932).

fees, this court also vacated any order awarding attorney fees."<sup>25</sup>

 The Court of Appeals further addressed and found Petitioner's position to be unsupported by the record, "American Family engaged in bad faith litigation tactics and this court's failure to sanction American Family for its conduct sends a clear message to insurers that 'improper removals to federal court, cheap trial tactics, flat out lies, lying, manipulating the court to delay resolution, avoiding depositions, refusing to disclose witnesses, and otherwise litigating abusively is condoned by the judicial system.' Lock <u>does not identify specific conduct with cites to the</u> <u>record</u>. At the end of her argument, she [Petitioner] includes a <u>string citation to the record untethered to</u> <u>any facts</u>."<sup>26</sup>

LOCK II was, of course, not the first court to affirm the

holdings in LOCK I:

On remand, <u>two</u> different superior court judges <u>denied Lock's motion for</u> <u>attorney fees</u> based on American Family's bad faith litigation, <u>and</u> the

<sup>26</sup> LOCK II, *slip op.* at 21 (internal citation added) (*emphasis added*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> LOCK II, *slip op* at n.12 (*emphasis in original*) (referencing, LOCK I at 925 n.4).

trial court rejected Lock's argument that she could retry all her previously dismissed bad faith insurance claims."<sup>27</sup>

Moreover, during the 2022 Interlocutory Proceedings, this

Court twice-affirmed LOCK I's scope as to remand, noting

Petitioner's "misinterpretation" of LOCK I:

Ms. Lock's argument turns on a <u>misinterpretation</u> of the Court of Appeals decision, which has been final for nearly two years. Of particular importance, the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's JNOV order, which dismissed Ms. Lock's bad faith claims as a matter of law. That post-verdict order <u>extinguished the jury's award of</u> <u>\$413,575</u>. The Court of Appeals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See LOCK II, slip op. at 2 (<u>emphasis added</u>); see also Ex. 4 at 7-8, "The superior court clarified that issue when it entered the order granting American Family's motion for partial summary judgment, which Ms. Lock did not oppose and for which she does not seek review. Ms. Lock's motion for entry of partial summary judgment was essentially an ill-conceived attempt to revive a superior court decision invalidated by a Court of Appeals decision for which she did not seek further review. It was therefore not surprising that the superior court denied Ms. Lock's motion to enter partial judgment on the original, but no longer valid, jury verdict, and denied reconsideration.

reinstated the common law bad faith claim only to the extent it was based on American Family's direct contact during litigation, meaning the check and cover letter mailed to her by American Family's corporate counsel []. The superior court clarified that issue when it entered the order granting American Family's motion for partial summary judgment, which Ms. Lock did not oppose and for which she does not seek review. Ms. Lock's motion for entry of partial summary judgment was essentially an ill-conceived attempt to revive a superior court decision invalidated by a Court of Appeals decision for which she did not seek further review. It was therefore not surprising that the superior court denied Ms. Lock's motion to enter partial judgment on the original, but no longer valid, jury verdict, and denied reconsideration of that decision. Here, Ms. Lock spends much of her time relitigating these issues that are not properly before this court."28,29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Ex. 4 at 6-7 (internal citation omitted) (*emphasis in original*) (*emphasis added*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See also **Ex. 3** at 7-8, "Ms. Lock's argument for a stay relies on a misinterpretation of the Court of Appeals decision, which is now final. A careful review of that decision indicates the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's JNOV only with respect

#### 2. In LOCK II, the Court of Appeals made clear that Petitioner's reading of LOCK I was unfounded.

LOCK II is certainly not the first time Petitioner's "misinterpretation" of LOCK I and the record on remand was addressed. In fact, Division I's express "clarification" of LOCK I was yet another admonishment of Petitioner's unreasonable conduct, following a line of prior admonishments. *See Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 136 WASH. APP. 295, 314, 151 P.3d 201

to Ms. Lock's claim of bad faith based on American Family's direct contact with her pending trial.[]. The court otherwise affirmed the superior court's JNOV order, which had the practical effect of extinguishing the jury's award of \$413,575. The Court of Appeals thus reinstated the common law bad faith claim only to the extent it was based on American Family's direct contact during litigation, meaning the check and cover letter mailed to her by American Family's corporate counsel. []. The superior court merely clarified that issue when it entered the order granting American Family's motion for partial summary judgment, which Ms. Lock did not oppose and for which she does not seek review. The superior court's order denying Ms. Lock's motion for partial judgment is consistent with the Court of Appeals decision and the order granting American Family's motion for partial summary judgment." Id. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

(2006) (directing the court commissioner to determine reasonable attorney fees as a sanction under WASH. R. APP. P. 18.9(a) for making substantive misrepresentations to the court in a published decision). Despite the record evidencing numerous instances wherein Petitioner was admonished for her misrepresentations, Petitioner's conduct remains unchecked.<sup>30</sup>

## **B.** The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that Substantial Evidence Undermines Petitioner's Claims of Judicial Bias.

Throughout this matter's procedural history, Petitioner has always had a full opportunity to be heard and file pleadings but systematically failed to properly exercise those rights. Petitioner's litigation decisions cannot be the basis of claimed institutional bias.

For example, Petitioner did not oppose American Family's first summary judgment on the scope of the single issue remaining for retrial, to wit: Lock's common law insurance bad

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See Ex. 2 at 19 :8-15.

faith based upon American Family's direct contact with Lock post-litigation (*i.e.*, 3/30/17 check and letter).<sup>31</sup> Despite Petitioner's failure to properly challenge and object to American Family's motion, Lock nevertheless subsequently claimed it was not the proper scope.<sup>32</sup>

In fact, and contrary to Petitioner's express misrepresentations to the judiciary, including during oral arguments at the Court of Appeals for LOCK II, many of the 2022 Trial Court's decisions and rulings were in favor of Lock and against American Family, just like the Trial Court's numerous rulings in favor of Lock and against American Family during the litigation on remand.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See CP 198-217; see also CP 5153: 17-23, 5154:6-11, and CP 5155:1-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See e.g., CP 773: 24-26; *but cf.*, CP 198-217 at 198:16-21 and 203:10-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See **Ex. 2** at 19:1-7; see also CP 367-372 at ¶¶1, 2, 4-8 & 11; CP 104-106. This list is not exhaustive.

Not only is the record devoid of evidence supporting Lock's claims of systemic, institutional, and judicial bias, but it is also replete with numerous, concrete examples evidencing Lock's improper gamesmanship during remand. For example, Lock played games with discovery, refusing to appear for her video deposition despite having notice for more than 300 days.<sup>34</sup> In fact, this Court previously found that Petitioner's counsel engaged in bad faith litigation conduct.<sup>35</sup>

In LOCK II, Division I states in unequivocal terms, "[w]e hold that Lock's bald accusations are insufficient to defeat the presumption of an impartial judiciary."<sup>36</sup> In so holding, the

<sup>36</sup> See LOCK II, *slip op.* at 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See CP 7034-7038; see also fn. 34, infra.

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